**RECEIVED**

**Dec 14 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals Court

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

Letitia Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001122

---

State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

vs.

Marquez D. Glenn.....Appellant.

---

**APPELLANT MARQUEZ D. GLENN'S INITIAL BRIEF**

---

Christopher T. Brumback  
Spencer D. Langley  
531 South Main Street, Suite 307  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 414-9097

Attorneys for Appellant

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Having established all elements necessary to entitle Glenn to immunity by a preponderance, the trial court abused its discretion by denying Glenn immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act (“PPPA” or “the Act”) based on the conclusory and legally unsupported finding that Glenn was not in imminent danger or did not believe he was in imminent danger 1) because only one of Glenn’s two assailants, who were acting together, violently assaulted him before he was able to defend himself, and 2) because, following Glenn’s immediate reaction of retreating to the safety of his car after his act of self defense created the opportunity to do so, Glenn’s brother drove Glenn’s car away from the location where both he and Glenn had already been the victims of two violent assaults.
- II. It was error for the trial court to find Glenn, while reasonably exercising his license as a social guest of Spring Grove tenants, was not “in [a] place where he ha[d] a right to be” when he defended himself from an unprovoked attack. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C).
- III. The trial court erred as a matter of law in finding that Glenn was a trespasser due to an alleged violation of a three year old Trespass Notice for loitering where possession of the property in question had changed at least once since the issuance of the alleged Trespass Notice

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following Appellant Marquez D. Glenn’s (“Appellant” or “Glenn”) prior successful appeal to the South Carolina Supreme Court, which remanded this case to the circuit court for further proceedings in connection with Glenn’s Motion for Immunity pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-450(A) and 16-11-440, this is the second appeal from the criminal proceedings in the matter of State v. Marquez Devon Glenn. See generally State v. Glenn, 2013A2330203357 and 2013A2330203356 R. pp. 285-86. Specifically, this appeal concerns the circuit court again denying Glenn the immunity to which he was entitled pursuant to Sections 16-11-450(A) and 16-11-440 of the Protection of Persons and Property Act (“the Act”). The proceedings before the

Greenville County Court of General Sessions concerned charges for Attempted Murder and Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime.

Appellant filed a pretrial Motion for Statutory Immunity based on S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-450(A) and 16-11-440(C) (“Motion”), on the grounds that Appellant was immune from prosecution because he had a legal right based on S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440, the common-law of self-defense, and under the facts and circumstance of this case to use a handgun to defend himself from a violent and unprovoked surprise attack by two (2) individuals while Appellant was leaving an apartment complex to which he was invited for a dinner with friends. See Motion for Immunity, pp. 5-7; see generally Immunity Hr’g Tr., pp. 59:18–222:14. The pretrial hearing was originally conducted outside of the presence of the jury and was considered and ruled upon by Judge John C. Hayes III (“Judge Hayes”).

On August 4, 2015, Judge Hayes ruled from the bench, orally denying Appellant’s Motion because Judge Hayes found “that the immunity argument fail[ed] solely on the issue of whether or not [Glenn] had a right to be there” at the time he acted in self-defense. Immunity Hr’g Tr. p. 221:15–17, p. 222:5-14, p. 222:2–14 (finding immunity argument failed “solely” because Appellant was not at a place he had a lawful right to be at the time of the incident, but also finding that Appellant was not engaged in any activity that would bar him “immunity but for his not being allowed on the property”).

Following the trial court’s denial of immunity, Appellant was tried by jury, which, after nearly eight (8) hours of deliberation resulted in the jury acquitting Appellant on the charge of Attempted Murder, but convicting Appellant of the lesser included charge of Assault and Battery

of a High and Aggravated Nature and Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime. See Sentencing Sheet, pp. 285-86.

Following a successful appeal to the South Carolina Supreme Court, the case was remanded on March 12, 2020 for Glenn's Motion to be reconsidered by the circuit court in light of the Supreme Court's ruling in favor of Glenn. Due to the passage of time, Judge Hayes was not able to preside over the reconsideration of Glenn's Motion, which resulted in Judge Letitia Verdin ("Judge Verdin") agreeing to hear the Motion in his stead. In addition to Judge Hayes not being able to preside, the state of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020 rendered it impossible to conduct a new evidentiary hearing in connection with the Motion. As such, to expedite reconsideration of the Motion, Judge Verdin, after review of the original hearing transcript and consultation with counsel for the State and Glenn, indicated that, in conjunction with argumentation by the parties, she felt able to rule from the original transcript. Thereafter, Judge Verdin filed an Order denying immunity on June 15, 2020. Appellant received written notice of entry of this order on July 6, 2020. Appellant timely filed a motion pursuant to Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP, requesting reconsideration of various points of law and fact, which was denied on July 28, 2020. Appellant received written notice of entry of this order on August 5, 2020. Appellant's Notice of Appeal was properly and timely served upon all parties of interest in this matter on August 13, 2020.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court reviews the trial court's pretrial determination of immunity for an abuse of discretion. State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). "A trial court abuses its discretion when its ruling is based on an error of law, or when grounded in factual

conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 116, 838 S.E.2d 491, 495 (2019).

### RELEVANT FACTS

On the evening of April 12, 2013, Glenn, along with his brother Tivarius Henderson (hereinafter “Tivarius”) and two other friends, was invited to Spring Grove Apartment Complex, (hereinafter “Spring Grove” or “the Complex”), by tenants Shelricka Duncan (“Shelricka”) and Kiana Grayson (“Kiana”) to chill and cookout.<sup>1</sup> See Immunity Hr’g Tr., pp. 60:8–61:22. p. 84:21–86:2. Once there, Glenn drove one of Shelricka’s friends to the store in her car, since she had been drinking and he had not. Id. pp. 60:22–62:3, pp. 85:13–89:4, pp. 151:2–152:3, p. 188:11–22.

While Glenn was at the store Kevin Bruster (“Kevin”), who was heavily and visibly intoxicated and had been put on trespass notice for the Complex less than twenty-four (24) hours prior for stealing the cell phone of and assaulting his ex-girlfriend Gloria Duncan (“Gloria”), the mother of Shelricka, showed up uninvited at Spring Grove to find Gloria.<sup>2</sup> See Immunity Hr’g Tr., pp. 61:23–62:3, pp. 85:13–89:20, p. 100:4–20, p. 204:10–20, p. 209:15–18. At the time Kevin was angrily and drunkenly seeking Gloria, she was in the Shelricka’s apartment (“27C”) with Shelricka’s other guests. See id. pp. 60:22–62:3, pp. 85:13–89:4, pp. 151:2–152:3, p. 188:11–22. Discovering Gloria’s presence in 27C, Kevin made forcible entry thereto yelling that

---

<sup>1</sup> Spring Grove is a Section VIII government-subsidized housing complex located in Taylors, South Carolina, the ownership of which changed ownership “a couple of times” between 2010 and 2013. See 2010 Model Lease for Subsidized Programs, pp. 291–304; Immunity Hr’g Tr. p. 198:1–2.

<sup>2</sup> Kevin was dropped off at Spring Grove by a car driven by an unknown individual. See Immunity Hr’g Tr., pp. 186:22–24.

he was going to kill Gloria. See id. p. 86:3–18, p. 87:11–12, pp. 89:23–90:16, pp. 151:7–152:14. When Shelricka attempted to stop Kevin, he hit her, and Tivarius intervened. Kevin then pulled a razor blade from his mouth, cutting Tivarius across the eye. Tivarius and another friend managed to get Kevin outside, where he ran off. See id. pp. 61:23–62:20, p. 86:3–20. In response to Kevin having forcibly entered 27C and struck Shelricka and assaulted Tivarius with a razor blade, law enforcement was at some point contacted and dispatched to Spring Grove. See id. p. 63:2–10, pp. 91:21–94:4, p. 152:9–14.

Seeking reinforcements Kevin went to the apartment of his nephew, Elfonzo Bruster (“Elfonzo”), where he begged Elfonzo to go back with him to Shelricka’s to do something about “somebody jump[ing]” him. See id. pp. 89:5–97:8, p. 99:4-8, p. 108:2–20 (“[Kevin] had blood on his shoes and looked like a black eye. And [Kevin] said, somebody jumped me, you [Elfonzo] not gonna do nothing?...And [Kevin] keep telling [Elfonzo], come on, let’s go, come on, let’s go. We didn’t pay attention until [Elfonzo] walked with [Kevin towards Shelricka’s].”), p. 109:3-13, p. 115:1-7, p. 118:15-21, p. 108:7-9, pp. 186:22-187:9, pp. 204:10–205:7, pp. 208:20-209:5. Around the same time Kevin was recruiting and urging Elfonzo to join him in attacking Tivarius and his family, Glenn returned to Spring Grove with a bag from the convenience store to see Kiana Grayson (“Kiana”), Shelricka’s across-the-parking-lot-neighbor, waiving him over to her apartment. Glenn, expecting to get change back from money he had given Kiana earlier to buy a pizza, walked up to Kiana to find her warning him of what had happened in his absence. See id. pp. 151:9–153:24, pp. 187:10–188:22. Prior to being approached by the police officers who had reported to the scene as a result of Kevin’s earlier assault of Tivarius, Glenn, while being warned by Kiana set his convenience store bag down

inside the door of Kiana's apartment. See id. p. 67:2-9, p. 69:3-22; p. 92:9-16, p. 152:1-14, p. 153:1-21, pp. 154:20-155:5; p. 187:10-20, p. 193:11-13. The police officers inquired as to Glenn's knowledge of the events that had transpired at the Complex involving Kevin, to which Glenn responded that he had no knowledge of any such events as he had been away from the Complex at the time the assault in question transpired. See id. pp. 152:9-153:21. At that time, Tivarius got into Glenn's car and parked it in front of the sidewalk leading to Kiana's apartment.

While Glenn was assisting and cooperating with the police in their investigation, he noticed, but did not think anything of, Kevin and Elfonso lurking in the shadows of a nearby apartment building. See id. p. 153:10-24. Upon concluding his conversation with the police and the police departing the scene, Glenn, out of concern over what the police and Kiana had just told him transpired in his absence, retrieved his belongings from Kiana's apartment to depart from Spring Grove. See id. pp. 153:10-156:7. While Glenn was walking to his car, Kevin and Elfonzo, seeing Glenn alone, abruptly and intentionally blocked Mr. Glenn's access to his car and began threatening Glenn.<sup>3</sup> See id. pp. 88:12-94:4. pp. 110:22-112:16, pp. 187:10-190:14. Upon Kevin and Elfonzo's approach of Glenn and throughout escalation of the confrontation, Elfonzo had his hand in his waistband as one would do when concealing a handgun. See id. pp. 75:1-77:13, pp. 124:8-126:16, pp. 161:11-162:15.

Immediately upon accosting Mr. Glenn, both Kevin and Elfonso aggressively began threatening and interrogating Mr. Glenn about the prior altercation instigated by Kevin with

---

<sup>3</sup>At the time of the events in question, Glenn, who is small of stature, was approximately 5'7" and 130 lbs. In contrast, Kevin and Elfonso were substantially larger than Glenn, being approximately 6'00" and 175 lbs. and 6'4" and 265 lbs., respectively. See Immunity Hr'g Tr., pp. 97:24-98:8; p. 180:2-12.

Tivarius in 27C, with Elfonso menacingly demanding to know “who jumped my mother fucking uncle?”<sup>4</sup> See id. at p. 63:16-22, p. 65:8-20, p. 71:14-21, p. 92:12-16, pp. 93:9–94:9, p. 95:1–7, p. 99:19-25, p. 105:13-17, p. 108:7-18, p. 118:3-21, pp. 124:6-125:3, p. 153:22–24, pp. 155:11–156:7, p. 160:9–19, pp. 188:25-189:3, p. 205:1-7, p. 206:1-3. Having been at the store during the time of the prior assault perpetrated by Kevin, Glenn denied any involvement or knowledge of the subject about which Kevin and Elfonzo were berating him. See id. p. 93:11–23, p. 153:17-24, pp. 155:11-156:7, p. 160:3–24. Contemporaneous with Glenn responding to Kevin and Elfonzo in an attempt to extricate himself from what was now clearly a dangerous situation, Kevin verbally threatened Glenn’s life, stating, “Man, fuck that, [Elfonso], let’s do what we said —what you just said what we came to do. You said we gonna get one of these niggers in this white Lincoln right here, we gonna get all these niggers right here, so let’s do what we came to do.” Id. p. 156:2–6; see also id. 65:13–18, p. 93:11-23. The car to which Kevin was referring, the white Lincoln, was Glenn’s vehicle. See id. p. 68:12–14.

At that point Kevin suddenly and violently attacked Glenn, punching him full-force in the throat and neck, knocking Glenn off-balance and to the ground and splashing Glenn’s alcoholic drink into Glenn’s eyes, thereby blinding him temporarily. See id. pp. 92:9-94:9, pp. 111:24-112:11, p. 189:2–16, p. 205:5-7, p. 206:1-3., pp. 124:8-125:17, p. 156:11–19, p. 169:11-20, p. 205:8–9. As Glenn was reeling from the violent punch to the throat and struggled to regain his vision by wiping his drink from his eyes, a female witnessing Kevin and Elfonso’s

---

<sup>4</sup> Elfonso’s own testimony, in which he admits that as soon as he and Kevin “walked up on [Glenn]” he demanded to know “what happened down here, man?”, is consistent with Glenn’s testimony, as well as that of numerous other witnesses, including Ms. Delni Nunez, who was a friend of and hanging out with Elfonso when Kevin ran up. See Immunity Hr’g Tr., p. 65:13–15, p. 93:13–14, p. 99:22–25, p. 108:16–18, p. 155:16-19.

attack of Glenn yelled “GUN!” just in time for Glenn to see Elfonso, who as indicated by his hand positioning and movements near his waistband was carrying a gun and who is known to do so by Glenn and others, pulling a handgun from his waistband. See id. p. 76:6–25, p. 125:8–18, pp. 157:13–158:20, pp. 161:11–162:15. Glenn, in response to being threatened, violently attacked by two larger assailants, hearing a female yell “GUN!”, and seeing Elfonso pulling a handgun, and in reasonable fear for his life and that of his family, pulled a handgun of his own, which until that moment had been concealed and known only to Glenn, and fired three (3) almost simultaneous shots in self-defense. See id. pp. 64:24–65:2, p. 94:12-20, pp. 125:14–126:1, pp. 155:11–157:6, pp. 159:4-160:2. Due to Kevin and Elfonso blocking and refusing Glenn access to his vehicle and the violent and surprise nature of the physical attack of which Glenn was the victim, Glenn neither had opportunity to retreat, nor any other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did. See id. pp. 96:24-97:8, p. 112:14-16, p. 190:6-14.

After Glenn’s shots fired in self-defense created the opportunity for Glenn to escape his attackers, Glenn retreated to the safety of his car, at which point Tivarius, who was driving Glenn’s car, understandably decided to leave the location where both he and Glenn had just been the victims of unprovoked and violent assaults. Before exiting the Complex, Tivarius pulled up to a nearby officer, and Glenn indicated an altercation had occurred with two guys and that one of the guys was bleeding and needed help.

## ARGUMENT

**I. The trial court abused its discretion by denying Glenn immunity under the PPPA based on the conclusory and legally unsupported finding that Glenn failed to establish the second and third elements of common law self-defense concerning imminent danger of serious bodily harm or death**

Reversal of the the trial court’s denial of immunity is essential not only to ensure justice for Glenn, but more importantly to give proper interpretation to the PPPA and effect to the Legislature’s intent that “no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(E). The trial court’s denial of immunity to Glenn is an abuse of discretion and is in direct contravention of the Legislature’s clear intent to enlarge both the right of self-defense and the shield of immunity provided by the PPPA to better “protect persons in South Carolina from violence being perpetrated upon them” by criminals. State v. Jones 416 S.C. 283, 298, 786 S.E.2d 132, 140 (2016). Accordingly, reversal of the trial court’s denial of immunity is dictated by the consistent and undisputed facts of this case, the Legislature’s “clearly enunciated” intent and reasons for promulgating the PPPA, the sound shift in public policy towards protecting innocent citizens and victims of crime and away from the protection of criminals, as well as the well-settled common law of self-defense and the Supreme Court’s recent PPPA jurisprudence.

**A. Pursuant to subsection 16-11-450(A) of the Act, Glenn, as a matter of law established each of the elements of common law self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence and is thus entitled to immunity**

As the Supreme Court illuminated in State v. Scott and confirmed in the first appeal of this case, “[s]elf-defense is the classic provision of law that justifies the use of deadly force,” such that “[i]t was clearly the Legislature’s intent that if a person seeking immunity under subsection 16-11-450(A) could prove the elements of self-defense in an immunity hearing,

immunity must be granted.” State v. Scott, 424 S.C. 463, 473, 819 S.E.2d 116, 120-21 (2018); Glenn, 429 S.C. at 117, 838 S.E.2d at 495-96.

For purposes of determining statutory immunity on the grounds of the common law doctrine of self-defense, the elements are:

First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

Glenn, 429 S.C. at 116, 838 S.E.2d at 495 (quoting State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011)). Importantly, by satisfying the above elements “[a] person is justified in using deadly force in self-defense....” State v. Smith, 425 S.C. 20, 30, 819 S.E.2d 187, 192 (Ct. App. 2018) (quoting Dickey, 394 S.C. at 499, 716 S.E.2d at 101) (emphasis in original).

As to the first element of self-defense, the trial court properly concluded that Glenn was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Despite clear direction from the Supreme Court to “make specific findings on the elements,” the trial court failed to make a specific finding as to whether Glenn had other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance. Glenn, 429 S.C. at 123, 838 S.E.2d at 499. The failure to make a specific finding as the Glenn’s duty to retreat is presumably the result of the trial court properly concluding that Glenn was absolved of the duty to retreat pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) because his presence at Spring Grove had

no proximate connection to the difficulty that arose. Although the trial court's findings with regard to the first and fourth elements of self-defense establish that Glenn was the innocent victim of an unprovoked and violent assault, as a result of the trial court's legally and factually unsupported conclusions regarding the second and third elements of common law self-defense, the trial court, in direct opposition to the expressly stated legislative intent of the PPPA, concluded that Glenn did not have the right to protect himself from his attackers and was required to surrender his personal safety to criminals. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-420(B), (E) (stating expressly that the intent of the General Assembly in passing the PPPA was to (1) codify the right of "law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others" and (2) ensure "that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack") (emphasis added).

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