RECEIVED

May 26 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2020-001122

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Marquez Devon Glenn,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's request for immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act because there is evidence in the record from which the court could conclude Appellant failed to prove all required elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in denying his request for immunity. While he argues there was evidence presented from which the trial court could have decided immunity in his favor, he ignores the evidence which supports the trial court's determination. There was evidence in the record to support the trial court's determination Appellant was not in actual danger of death or great bodily injury, nor did he reasonably believe he was in danger of death or great bodily injury. Additionally, there was evidence in the record to support the trial court's determination a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would not have held the same belief nor would have struck the fatal blow in order to save himself. Based on this Court's standard of review, the trial court's determination that Appellant failed to establish his entitlement to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence should be affirmed.

The immunity provision of the Act at issue provides:

- (A) A person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law is justified in using deadly force and is immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use of deadly force, unless the person against whom deadly force was used is a law enforcement officer....

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450 (Supp. 2013).

The South Carolina Supreme Court considered the immunity provision in State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). The Court concluded: "We agree with the circuit court that the legislature intended defendants be shielded from trial if they use deadly force as outlined under

the Act. Immunity under the Act is therefore a bar to prosecution and, upon motion of either party, must be decided prior to trial.” Id. at 410, 709 S.E.2d at 665 (emphasis added).

“Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant’s entitlement to the Act’s immunity. State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 371, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). The South Carolina Supreme Court stated:

There are four elements a defendant must establish to justify the use of deadly force under the common law of self-defense:

First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 116, 838 S.E.2d 491, 495 (2019) (quoting State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011)). The defendant may not have to prove the fourth element of self-defense—the duty to retreat—if he can demonstrate he meets the requirements of section 16-11-440(C) of the Act.

The circuit court specifically found Appellant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. The court found Appellant did not provoke the reaction from Kevin or do anything to cause the difficulties. Additionally, the circuit court specifically found that Appellant did not have a duty to retreat. As a result, the only relevant questions are 1) whether Appellant actually was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury or believed he was in

imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; and 2) if the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life or either if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. This Court, based on the well-established standard of review, must determine whether there is any evidence to support the trial court's determinations on these two issues and may not reweigh the evidence or determine credibility of the witnesses. See State v. Marshall, 428 S.C. 11, 17–18, 832 S.E.2d 618, 621–22 (Ct. App. 2019) (“Appellate courts review an immunity determination for abuse of discretion. A circuit court abuses its discretion when its ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.”). Because there is evidence supporting the trial court's determinations, as will be discussed, this Court should affirm.

The circuit court correctly determined, after reviewing all the evidence presented at the immunity hearing, Appellant failed to establish he was in imminent danger or that he believed he was in imminent danger. The court properly noted no gun was found on the victim and the remaining testimony was inconsistent. The majority of the testimony, including from multiple witnesses presented by Appellant indicated the victim was never seen with a gun. At trial, Appellant premised his belief of imminent danger on the existence of a gun and the victim's threatening him with a gun. The circuit court clearly did not find this testimony credible given the court's finding regarding the failure to locate a gun and the discussion of the punch as the only attack on Appellant. (Order Denying Motion for Immunity, p.2; R.2).

As a result, the sole basis for Appellant’s alleged need to act in self-defense actually appearing in the record and for which the trial court gave credence would have been a single punch¹ by Kevin, an intoxicated individual, which did not do any significant harm to Appellant; and instead, merely knocked his alcoholic drink into his eyes.² There was no imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury existing from the single punch from an intoxicated individual. See e.g., State v. Jones, 228 S.C. 484, 497–98, 91 S.E.2d 1, 8 (1956) (overruled on other grounds) (finding “jury was fully justified in rejecting that plea, for it will be noted that even according to appellant’s testimony, he was never struck by any of the three weapons, but on the contrary took them away from Bertha one by one, and struck her with them in turn when she was unarmed and defenseless”). Appellant would not have been entitled to utilize deadly force against Kevin, he certainly was not entitled to utilize it against the victim.

Further, as the court found there is no evidence at all of any hostility from the victim to Appellant. Testimony by numerous witnesses indicated the victim approached Appellant without any hostility. He was calm and merely asked what happened to his uncle. (T.93; 97; 108; 109; 111; 113; 205; R.141; 145; 156; 159; 161; 253). Certainly there is evidence in the record to support the circuit court’s determination that the victim’s behavior did not justify a belief by Appellant that he was in imminent harm. See e.g., State v. Manning, 418 S.C. 38, 45, 791 S.E.2d 148, 151 (2016) (“Further, the victim was unarmed at the time she was shot, meaning we cannot say that the trial judge abused his discretion in denying Respondent immunity . . .”).

¹ In his Brief, Appellant attempts to describe the attack as being “violently punched in the throat by one of those adversaries . . .” Appellant’s own testimony seems to contradict this exaggerated characterization when he indicates: Kevin “tried to swing on me . . . I kind of jerked . . . he knocked me off balance a little bit.” (T.156; R.204) (emphasis added). The only harm that is described as coming from the punch was the result of alcohol going into Appellant’s eyes and needing to be wiped out.

² Appellant could not even remember where the single punch landed. He testified it was the face, the neck, the jaw, the throat, or somewhere between the face and throat. (T.181; R.229). Obviously, this punch was not memorable or significant enough to constitute a threat of serious bodily harm or death when he cannot even describe where it landed.

Additionally, Appellant's own actions after the shooting belie his claim that he was in imminent danger or that he believed he was in imminent danger. After shooting the victim multiple times, he got into a car and fled the scene. He passed by one officer and stopped at a subsequent officer arriving on scene. He never told that officer he was involved in a shooting, he shot someone out of fear, or that he was forced to defend himself. (T.201-202; R.249-250). Instead, they merely relayed that there was "a fight down there." (T. 202; R.250).³ Significantly, in addition to fleeing the scene, Appellant's response was to throw his gun into the Reedy River in order to cover up evidence of the crime. (T.202; R.250). These actions are not the actions of someone who believed they acted appropriately in self-defense and the trial court could consider Appellant's subsequent behaviors in assessing his belief of imminent danger at the time of the shooting. See e.g., State v. Bruno, 322 S.C. 534, 536, 473 S.E.2d 450, 452 (1996) ("[Appellant] was not entitled to a self-defense charge, because he presented no evidence that he believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury.").

Finally, even if Appellant believed he was in imminent danger, the trial court properly concluded a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would not have entertained the same belief, and that conclusion is supported by the evidence at the hearing. No reasonable person would believe it is necessary to shoot someone multiple times when that person never exhibited hostility towards you, never touched you, and was not carrying a gun—all of which are supported in the evidence. In addition, even considering Kevin's punch as applying to both Kevin and the victim, a single punch which only knocks a person "a little off balance" does not warrant

³ There is absolutely no evidence of any kind in the record to support Appellant's claims in his brief regarding why he failed to stop and tell police who he was and his involvement in the incident. He never maintained he was afraid to talk with police or to provide his story. Instead, the record clearly belies these alleged excuses because Appellant, immediately before the confrontation with the victim and Kevin, was discussing what happened earlier with an officer—the same officer he passed while fleeing the scene immediately after the shooting. (T.152-153; R.200-201). Additionally, Appellant voluntarily agreed to speak with Investigator Whaley at the law enforcement center.

multiple gun shots being fired in response and no reasonable person of ordinary firmness and courage would have believed the only means of protecting himself would be to fire multiple shots at an unarmed person.

There is evidence in the record to support the circuit court's determination that Appellant failed to prove the second and third elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence. While Appellant's counsel may have a different opinion regarding the evidence and may wish this Court agree with his version of events, this Court is not to reweigh the evidence but only to determine whether there is evidence to support the trial court's conclusion. Appellant simply points out competing facts, and asks this Court to reweigh the evidence to come to a different conclusion from the trial court. This Court cannot partake of Appellant's request, but must instead determine whether the circuit court committed an error of law—which it did not—or whether there is no evidence upon which the circuit court could render its decision. See State v. Mitchell, 382 S.C. 1, 675 S.E.2d 435 (2009) (equating the “any evidence” standard of review in criminal cases to the abuse of discretion standard of review and emphasizing that, under this standard, the appellate court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence”). Because there is evidence in the record supporting the conclusion, this Court should affirm because Appellant has failed to demonstrate the circuit court committed an abuse of discretion in denying his motion for immunity.

II. Even assuming the trial court erred in finding Appellant was not “in another place where he ha[d] a right to be” and erred in finding him on proper trespass notice, the finding was irrelevant to the trial court’s determination of whether he met the requirements for immunity because the trial court specifically found he did not have a duty to retreat, thereby applying section 16-11-440(C) of the South Carolina Code. (Appellant’s Issues II and III).

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in finding Appellant was a trespasser and was not “in [a] place where he ha[d] a right to be” when he shot the victim. Even assuming Appellant is correct in his arguments, the determination does not provide any relief nor does it change the circuit court’s determination he was not entitled to immunity.

Section 16-11-440(C) provides:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) (2013).

If Appellant can meet the requirements of section 16-11-440(C) then he is exempt from establishing he had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance. In other words, he would have no duty to retreat prior to using deadly force. In order to do so, the South Carolina Supreme Court has found that one cannot be acting unlawfully nor can they be in a place they are not entitled to be and either was the proximate cause of the need to use deadly force. Even if he is in a place he is not entitled to be or acting unlawfully, if that behavior is not causally connected

to the use of deadly force then he can still have no duty to retreat. See Glenn, 429 S.C. at 119–20, 838 S.E.2d at 497.

In considering the relationship between Appellant’s status as being on trespass notice and his entitlement to immunity, the trial court specifically concluded:

The record reflects no evidence of a causal connection between the shooting and the Defendant’s status as a trespasser. This Court finds that the Defendant’s shooting of Elphonso Bruster was not proximately related to whether he was trespassing at the time he fired his gun. The Defendant’s shooting of Elphonso Bruster, instead of Kevin Bruster who actually struck the defendant, had no proximate connection to whether he was unlawfully trespassing at Spring Grove.

(Order Denying Immunity p.3; R.3). In order for Appellant’s status as a trespasser to impact any determination of immunity, the circuit court was required to find his trespassing proximately caused the difficulty or there was a causal connection between the trespass and the use of deadly force. See Glenn, 429 S.C. at 119–20, 838 S.E.2d at 497 (“Similarly, analyzing a defendant’s ‘right to be’ in a place where he is attacked under section 16-11-440(C) without considering proximate cause or a causal connection to the incident leaves an innocent person’s ability to seek the Act’s protection up to happenstance, which we also do not believe was the intent of the Legislature. Such analysis in this context is supported by our longstanding self-defense precedent predating the Act.”). The circuit court specifically concluded no such connection existed.

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